UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
DI STRI CT OF CONNECTI CUT

NELI DA VALDES and JUAN RI VERA, X 3:00cv2271 (WAE)
on behal f of thensel ves and :
all others simlarly situated,
Plaintiffs,
V.
QWEST COVMUNI CATI ONS | NTERNATI ONAL, :
| NC., QWAEST | NTERNATI ONAL TELECOM
CORP., d/b/a/ QAEST COVMUNI CATI ONS

SERVI CES, QWEST LClI, QWEST,
Def endant s

RULI NG ON DEFENDANTS MOTI ON TO DI SM SS

The plaintiffs, Nelida Valdes and Juan Rivera, bring this
class action suit against Qmest Comruni cations |International,
Inc., Qmest International Telecom Corp., d/b/a Quest
Communi cati ons Services, Qwmest LClI, and Qwest, alleging that
t he defendants switched the plaintiffs’ and other custoners’
|l ong di stance carriers to Quest wi thout the consent of the
custonmer, a practice known as slammng. The plaintiffs allege
fraud, unfair trade practices, and violations of Federal and
Connecticut statutes and/or regul ations.

Specifically, the plaintiffs allege a violation of
Connecticut General Statutes ["CGS"] § 16-2556i, which
regul ates primary local or intrastate interexchange carrier
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orders, with liability pursuant to CGS § 42-110g(a) [ Count
One]; violation of CGS § 42-110b(a), of the Connecticut Unfair
Trade Practices Act ["CUTPA"] [Count Two]; violation of 47
U.S.C. §8 258(a) which prohibits any tel ecommunicati ons carrier
fromsubmtting or executing a change in a subscriber’s

sel ection of a provider of tel ephone exchange service or toll
service except as in accordance with such verification
procedures as the Federal Communi cations Conmm ssion ["FCC']
shal |l prescribe under 47 C.F. R 8 64.1100 [ Count Three];
fraudul ent m srepresentation under the civil common | aw of
Connecticut [Count Four]; violations of 18 U S.C. 88 1952,
1961, 1963, and 1964, Racketeering and Racketeer Influenced
and Corrupt Organizations ["RICO'] [Count Five]; and state |aw
negligence clainms [ Count Six].

Pendi ng before this Court is Qwvest’s nmotion to dism ss
pursuant to Fed. R Civ.P. 9(b) and 12(b)(6). For the reasons
st ated bel ow, the defendants’ notion will be granted in part
and denied in part.

DI SCUSSI ON
Facts

The plaintiffs, Nelida Valdes and Juan Rivera, are

Connecticut residents who claimthat they are victins of the

unaut hori zed switching of their intrastate and/or interstate



| ong distance carriers by Qwest. They allege that Qwest
contracted with i ndependent contractors, known as third party
distributors ("distributors"”), to pronote the sale of Qmest’s
| ong di stance service. These distributors were required to
obtain a signed Letter of Agency ("LOA") from consuners as
verification of their perm ssion to be switched. The
plaintiffs allege that Quest relied on information submtted
el ectronically by the distributors, ignoring the falsity, or
absence of, the LOAs. Plaintiffs allege carrier change orders
were submtted to the [ ocal exchange carriers, including
Sout hern New Engl and Tel ephone ("SNET"), which were not
aut horized by the affected consuners.

The plaintiffs assert that the defendant Qwmest has
el ectronically submtted in-state and/or interstate |ong
di stance carrier change orders to | ocal exchange carriers,
whi ch processed the orders and switched the plaintiffs’ and
ot her custoners’ |ong distance carriers to Qvest w thout the
consent or |egal docunentation evidencing the consent of the
custoner. When Qnest received the LOAs fromits distributors,
many contai ned forged signatures, m sspelled signatures, wong
names, incorrect mddle initials, and outdated addresses.

The victins of this scheme, including plaintiffs Val des

and Rivera, were frequently unaware of the illegal sw tching



of their long distance carriers until they received bills from
Qmest for unauthorized carrier service, received bills from
their authorized carrier notifying themof the switch, or
noticed a charge for the actual switching on their |ocal
t el ephone bill.

The plaintiffs also assert that some victins have been
subj ected to nore than one switch to Qmest without
aut hori zation, and have been billed for this unauthorized
service after each such carrier change. The plaintiffs allege
that when the victins resisted paynment of these bills, Quest
threatened the largely |Iowincone and/or mnority victins with
coll ection actions and damage to their credit. The plaintiffs
al so state that Qvwest failed to correct its m stakes by
promptly returning the plaintiffs and others simlarly
Ssituated to their previous carrier.

Motion to Disn ss

The function of a notion to dismss is "nerely to assess
the |l egal feasibility of the conplaint, not to assay the
wei ght of the evidence which m ght be offered in support

thereof." Ryder Energy Distribution Corp. v. Merrill Lynch

Commdities, Inc., 748 F.2d 774, 779 (2d Cir. 1984). \When

deciding a notion to dism ss, the court nust accept all well-

pl eaded all egations as true and draw all reasonable inferences



in favor of the pleader. Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U. S. 232, 236
(1974). A conpl aint should not be dism ssed unless it appears
beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in
support of his claimwhich would entitle himto relief. Conley
v. G bson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46 (1957).

The defendants nove for dism ssal pursuant to
Fed. R. Civ.P. 9(b) and 12(b)(6), as well as Local Rule of Civil
Procedure 9(a), arguing that the plaintiffs have failed to
plead with particularity and for failure to state a clai mupon
which relief can be granted.

Specifically, Qmest asserts that the plaintiffs CUTPA
and Connecticut common |aw claims under counts one, two, four
and six are preenpted by the Federal Tel ecomrunications Act of
1996 ["FTA"]. Qwest states that even if counts one and two
are not preenpted, the clainm under CUTPA fail to state a
cl ai m because (1) the Connecticut General Assenbly has
determ ned that the conduct alleged is not subject to CUTPA;
(2) the plaintiffs do not allege an ascertainable |oss; and
(3) there is no substantial consuner injury as a nmatter of |aw
because consuners are able to avoid any injury. Qwest also
asserts that there is no private right of action under § 258
of the FTA, thus negating count three. Qwest clainms that the

conplaint fails to allege the elements of a claimfor



fraudul ent m srepresentation, and fails to allege any fraud
with particularity as required by Fed.R Civ.P. 9(b), under
count four. Qwest submits that the conplaint alleges none of
the el ements necessary to sustain a RICO claim[count five]
and fails to allege any elements with particularity as
required by Fed. R Civ.P. 9(b). Finally, Qwmest asserts that
the state | aw negligence claim|[count six] is preenpted by the
FTA. This Court will first address the preenption claim the

primary hurdle the plaintiffs must clear.

Preenpti on under 47 U.S.C. § 258 [Counts One, Two, Four and
Si x]

Qnest argues that CUTPA and Connecticut tort |aw are

preenpted by the FTA, which specifically regulates the conduct
at issue, the unauthorized switching or slamm ng of consuner
interstate or intrastate |long distance service. Qwest also
asserts that Congress intended to "occupy the field" in regard
to the regulation of long distance service, thereby preenpting
Connecticut’s statute, CGS 8§ 16-256i, which regulates primry
| ocal or intrastate carrier orders, and delineates penalties.
The plaintiffs counter that 47 U . S.C. § 258 does not

implicitly or explicitly preenpt CUTPA and fraud actions, and

in fact expressly states that the remedies provided in the



statute are in addition to any renedi es al ready avail abl e by
| aw. The plaintiffs point out that no cases hold that § 258
precl udes or preenpts CUTPA or state law fraud clains, and in
fact, even broad, conprehensive federal regulation Iike

ERI SA, ' which expressly states that it preenpts any state |aw
relating to enployee benefit plans, has been found by the
Connecti cut Suprene Court not to preenpt CUTPA and fraud

clainms. Napoletano v. Cigna Health Care of Conn.. Inc., 238

Conn. 216 (1996), cert. denied, 520 U S. 1103 (1997).
Section 258 was enacted as part of the Federal
Tel ecomruni cati ons Act of 1996, and provides as foll ows:

(a) No telecommunications carrier shal
submt or execute a <change in a
subscri ber’s sel ection of a provider of
t el ephone exchange service or tel ephone
toll service except in accordance with
such verification procedures as the
Comm ssion shall prescribe. Nothing in
this section shall preclude any State

comm ssi on from enforcing such
procedures with respect to intrastate
servi ces.

(b) Any telecommunications carrier that
violates the verification procedures
described in subsection (a) of this
section and that collects charges for
t el ephone exchange service or tel ephone
toll service froma subscriber shall be
liable to the carrier previ ously
sel ected by the subscriber in an anount
equal to all charges paid by such

1 Enpl oyee Retirenent Income Security Act of 1974.
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subscriber after such violation, in
accordance with such procedures as the
Conmmi ssi on may prescribe. The renmedies
provided by this subsection are in
addi tion to any ot her remedi es
avai |l abl e by | aw

The Suprene Court has held that when a court reviews an
agency’s construction of a statute it adm nisters, the court

has two questions before it. Chevron U S. A v. Natural Res.

Def. Council, 467 U S. 837, 842-3 (1984). The first is whether

Congress has directly spoken to the precise question at issue.
If the intent of Congress is clear, that is the end of the
matter. However, if the court determ nes that Congress has not
directly addressed the precise question, the court does not

i npose its own construction on the statute, but instead
determ nes whether the statute is silent or anbiguous on a
particul ar issue, and then decides if the agency’s
interpretation is based on a perm ssible construction of the
statute.

This Court does not find silence or anmbiguity in the
federal statute. The plain |anguage of 47 U S.C. § 258(a)
| eaves no doubt that Congress did not intend the statute to
preenpt the states from passing |laws and enforcing these | aws
regarding intrastate | ong distance service. The Connecti cut

statute in question, CGS § 16-256i, expressly states that it



governs primary local or intrastate interexchange carrier
orders. This Court finds no preenption by 47 U.S.C. 8§ 258, but
instead finds two parallel, synmbiotic statutes, one governing
out -of-state | ong di stance service, and one governing in-state
service. Wile the defendants assert that Congress added
federal control over significant areas of intrastate tel ephone
services with passage of the Tel econmuni cations Act in 1996, an
assertion with which this Court agrees, it cannot be disputed
that 47 U.S.C. 8 258(a) expressly reserves the enforcenment of
verification procedures for changes in intrastate carriers to

t he states.

To address Qmest’s assertion of federal preenption
regardi ng CUTPA and Connecticut common |aw clainms of fraud and
negligence, the Court focuses on 47 U S.C. 8§ 258(b), which
expressly states that "the renedi es provided by this subsection
are in addition to any other renedies available by law " Quest
argues, inter alia, that there is no private cause of action
under 8§ 258(b), and even if the clains alleged in the conplaint
are not preenpted by federal law, the plaintiffs have not
stated a claimunder CUTPA, nor is the conduct alleged in the
conpl ai nt acti onabl e under CUTPA.

The plaintiffs proffer a convincing argunment that the | aws



i nvol ved (47 U.S.C. § 258, CUTPA, and Connecticut comon | aw)
overlap to sone degree but do not conflict in any sense.
Section 258 punishes a | ong distance tel ephone service provider
who does not follow the verification procedures delineated by
the FCC before switching a consumer’s |long di stance service,
and conpensates the victimof this m sconduct; CUTPA punishes a
person who engages in unfair nethods of conpetition and unfair
or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade of
comrerce. Common |aw fraud, the el ements of which are set out
in a myriad of Connecticut cases, punishes a person who nakes a
fal se representation as to a statement of fact, who knows his
statenment is untrue, who makes the statement to induce the

ot her party to act, and who causes the other party to act on

the false representation to his detrinent. See Grayson V.

Grayson, 4 Conn. App. 275, 287 (1985). The victimis
conpensated when fraud is proven. The plaintiffs’ common | aw
tort claimof negligence in count six is |ikewi se not expressly
preenpted by the federal statute.

This Court does not find that Congress intended, by
enacting 47 U.S.C. 8 258, to occupy the field of unfair trade
practices, or common |law fraud or tort clains. These clainms by
the plaintiffs arise out of the actions of Qwest and their

agents. To deny the plaintiffs recourse, particularly on the
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claims arising fromthe slamrm ng of their intrastate carrier
service, would be to deny themjustice under the |aw.

Therefore, the Court does not find preenption, and will address
Qnvest’s allegation that the plaintiffs do not state a claim
under CUTPA.

Counts One and Two State a Claim Under CUTPA

CUTPA is shorthand for CGS Title 42, Chapter 735a,
entitled Unfair Trade Practices. The operative section is 42-
110b, which prohibits unfair trade practices, and sets forth
the legislative intent; 8 42-110b(a) states that no person
shall engage in unfair nethods of conpetition and unfair or
deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or
conmer ce.

The Court finds that Qwest agrees with the plaintiffs in
its pleadings that unfair or deceptive actions occurred, based
on Qnest’s claimof itself being victimzed by its
di stributors. Here, however, Qwest clains that only one of the
subsections of CGS § 16-256i is actionable under CUTPA, that
being 8§ 16-256i (d)(2), which provides that there is a violation
of CUTPA if a telecomrunications carrier fails to switch a
customer back to the original carrier within a reasonable
period of tinme. Qwest clainms that the plaintiffs did not plead

this claim hence this Court nust dism ss the plaintiffs’
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cl ai ms under counts one and two. However, in the revised
conplaint [doc.# 20, T 17], the plaintiffs do assert that Qwest
failed to correct its m stakes by pronptly returning the
plaintiffs and others simlarly situated to their previous
carrier. Therefore, the Court finds that the plaintiffs have
sufficiently pled this claim

Qnest al so raises the issue that plaintiffs have a | ack of
standing to bring their CUTPA clainms, stating that the
plaintiffs allege no ascertainable |oss. The plaintiffs have
all eged in their anmended conplaint that they were billed for
unaut hori zed service, billed for anpunts not |egally due, and
threatened with collection actions when they resisted paynent.
They have also alleged that in some instances there was nore
t han one unauthorized switch, and that sonme victins were billed
for each such carrier change. The plaintiffs state that they
have the ability to prove that the actions of Qwest in
illegally changing their long distance service resulted in
bills, paynments, and other economc harmto the plaintiffs, and
that the injury was substantial. The plaintiffs assert that
t hey do not sue because one plaintiff |ost a few dollars, but
because hundreds, perhaps thousands of individuals have fallen
victimto Qnest’s illegal practices. The Court finds that the

plaintiffs have pled ascertai nabl e damages sufficiently to
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petition for relief under CUTPA.

Anot her issue raised by Qwest is the plaintiffs’ failure
to state a claimfor negligent supervision under CUTPA where
the consuners in the present case coul d have reasonably avoi ded
any injury. Qwmest clainms the plaintiffs were liable for
contri butory negligence by not inplenmenting a preferred carrier
freeze under 47 C.F.R. 8 64.1190 by sinply calling their |ocal
phone conpany and requesting it. Qwest asserts that Connecti cut

case |l aw disall ows CUTPA clains when contributory negligence by

the plaintiff is found. A-G Foods, Inc. v. Pepperidge Farm
Inc., 216 Conn. 200 (1990)(holding that there is no CUTPA

vi ol ati on when the sole basis of the claimis the defendant’s
negligence and the jury determ nes that the plaintiff was
contributorily negligent).

The plaintiffs point out that the victimof slammng is
typically unaware that slanm ng has occurred until after the
fact, because of the illegal forgery and deceit enployed to
acconplish the unauthorized switching of the |long distance
carrier, and the victimhas no reason to anticipate that it may
occur. This Court concurs. To expect the average consunmer to
be aware of 47 C.F.R 8 64.1190, nuch less to understand it in
its entirety, is ludicrous. Once the consuner has been

slammed, the information regarding a preferred carrier freeze
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is usually provided after the fact, by the | ocal phone conpany
and/ or authorized carrier, in the course of the consuner’s
attenmpt to straighten things out with his long distance carrier
service. Therefore the Court will not dism ss the CUTPA cl aim
on the basis of contributory negligence.

Pri vate Cause of Action under 47 U.S.C. § 258(b)

Qnest argues that 8§ 258(b) does not provide a private
cause of action, but is only a vehicle for the carrier
previously selected by the subscriber to be made whol e by the
carrier found in violation of the statute. Qwmest correctly
states that the statute does not expressly address a private
cause of action.

The plaintiffs point out that 47 U S.C. § 258 is but a
smal | part of Chapter Five of the U S. Code, which creates and
enpowers the FCC, they cite 88 206 and 207, which allow the
person or persons damaged to seek redress in the courts for
injury caused by common carriers. Section 207 explicitly gives
t he wronged person or persons a choice of either filing a
conplaint with the FCC, or bringing suit for recovery of
damages in any district court of the United States of conpetent
jurisdiction.

Qvest brings the Court’s attention to Conboy v. A T.&T.

Corp., 241 F.3d 242 (2001), where the district court held, and
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the Second Circuit affirmed, that the plaintiffs had no private
ri ght of action for nonetary damages for alleged violations of
two sections of the FTA. Qwest asserts that Conboy is
controlling in the present case.

The plaintiffs argue that the district court in that case
found a private cause of action under 47 U. S.C. 88 206 and 207,
but dism ssed the case because the recovery of "presuned
danmages" was not permtted, and that Congress did not intend to
create a private right of action with respect to the two
statutes at issue (47 C.F.R 88 51.217 and 64.1201). This
Court agrees with the plaintiffs’ interpretation of the holding
i n Conboy, and accepts as true their pleadings that they have
all eged and will prove that the actions of the defendants in
illegally changing their |ong distance service resulted in
bills, paynments and other economic harmto the plaintiffs. This
Court al so reads the Conboy decision narrowmy, as finding no
private cause of action with respect to the named regul ations.
Therefore, Conboy is not controlling here. The case does have
value to our ruling, however.

In reaching its decision in Conboy, the Second Circuit
applied the four-factor test established by the Supreme Court

in Cort v. Ash, 422 U S. 66 (1975). The Cort test detern nes

whet her a federal statute creates an inplied right of action by
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aski ng

(1) whether the statute was enacted to
benefit a special class; (2) whether the
drafters intended to create a private right
of action; (3) whether a private right of
action would be consistent with the purpose
of the statute; and (4)whether the cause of
action is not one traditionally rel egated
to the states.

The critical inquiry is congressional intent, and the
burden of proving congressional intent rests with the

plaintiff. New York City Envtl. Justice Alliance v. G uliani

214 F.3d 65, 73 (2d Cir. 2000). In Conboy, the Second Circuit
held that the plaintiffs had not met this burden of show ng
congressi onal intent.

Slamming is a relatively new phenonenon, and 47 U. S.C. 258
does not expressly allow or prohibit a private right of action.
The statute may be read as having been created to benefit a
special class, i.e., consuners who have had their |ong distance
carriers changed illegally, and the plaintiffs are nenbers of
that particular class. However, Suprenme Court deci sions since
Cort have stated that the crucial inquiry is the second factor,

congressional intent. Touche Ross & Co. v. Redington, 442 U S.

560, 575-76 (1979).

The plaintiffs argue that congressional intent to create a
private cause of action is manifested in the plain | anguage of
47 U.S.C. 8§ 258, i.e., the mention of "other renedi es avail abl e
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at law," coupled with the |anguage of 8§ 207, which encourages
private causes of action against violators of the FTA. For

t hese reasons, this Court distinguishes the present case from
the case in Conboy, and will not dism ss the present case on

the issue of lack of a private right of action.

El enents of a Claimfor Fraudul ent M srepresentation Not

Al | eged

Qnest asserts that the plaintiffs have not alleged the
el ements of fraudul ent m srepresentation in count four, nor do
the allegations in count four conply with the particularity
requirenments of Fed. R Civ.P. Rule 9(b). The Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure do not require a plaintiff to detail all the
facts upon which a claimis based in the conplaint. "To the
contrary, all the Rules require is a short and plain statenent
of the claimthat will give the defendant fair notice of what
the plaintiff’s claimis and the grounds upon which it rests.”

Conley v. G bson, 355 U. S. 47 (1957). However, when a

plaintiff alleges fraud in the conplaint, Rule 9(b) contains an
additional requirenent: "In all avernments of fraud or m stake,
the circunstances constituting fraud or m stake shall be stated
with particularity.”

The el enments of fraudulent m srepresentation are as

follows: (1) a false representation was nmade as to a statenent

17



of fact; (2) it was untrue and known to be untrue by the party
making it; (3) it was nmade to induce the other party to act
upon it; and (4) the other party did so act upon that false

representation to his injury. Statewide Gievance Comrnittee v.

Egbarin, 61 Conn. App. 445, 454 (2001).

As to the first elenment, Qwmest charges that the conplaint
does not identify a statenent of fact allegedly made by Quest,
and wi thout a representation there can be no m srepresentation.
Wt hout identification of a statement of fact, Qwmest correctly
states that it would be inpossible to assess the existence of
the second el enent’s requirenment that any falsity be known to
t he defendant. Regarding the third and fourth el enments, Quest
opi nes that the plaintiffs were not induced to act by any
statenment made by Qwest, nuch |ess induced to act to their
detri nment.

The Court concurs with the defendants that count four nust
be di snm ssed based on the plaintiffs’ failure to plead the
el ements of fraudul ent m srepresentation, with particularity
under Rule 9(b), or otherwi se. The Court cannot ascertain any
statenments made directly by Qmest to the plaintiffs that the
plaintiffs relied on to their detrinment. While both parties
blame the third party distributors, the distributors are not

parties to the present action.
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Therefore, this Court will dism ss the claimof fraudul ent
m srepresentation without prejudice. If the plaintiffs should
decide to replead the allegations of fraudul ent
m srepresentation, they nust give particulars as to the
statenments made, the respect in which statenments, if any, are
fraudul ent, detailing the tinme and place such statenments were
made, and identifying the persons charged with having nmade
t hose statements. They nmust also state with particularity any
information they have alleging that Qvest knew the statenents
were untrue, and that the plaintiffs were induced to act to

their detriment or injury.

El enents of a RICO Claim Are Not All eqged

Qnest al so asserts that count five of the conplaint should
be di sm ssed because the plaintiffs’ allegations fall far short
of the pleading burdens of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1961 et seq., or RICO
because violation of 8 1962 was not alleged. 1In their revised
conplaint, the plaintiffs specifically state they are all eging
a RICO claim although 8 1962 is not expressly nentioned. They
request |eave to anend the conplaint to correct this om ssion.
This Court will allow the plaintiffs to correct this error of

onmi ssion because of their specific nention of violations under
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18 U.S.C. 88 1951, 1961, 1963, and 1964, and will now address
the RICO issues raised by the plaintiff.

To state a claimfor a RICO violation, the plaintiffs have
two threshold pleading requirenments. First, they nust allege
t hat the defendants, through the comm ssion of two or nore acts
constituting a pattern of racketeering activity, directly or
indirectly invest in, or participate in an enterprise, the
activities of which affect interstate or foreign comrerce.
Second, they nust allege that they were injured in their
busi ness or property by reason of a violation of § 1962.

Mendl ow v. Seven Locks Facility, 86 F.Supp.2d 55, 57 (D.Conn.

2000) .

The plaintiffs contend that Qvmest has violated 18 U S.C. §
1952 by using the U S. mail to bill at |east two slanmm ng
victims for services neither requested or authorized, thus
engaging in acts constituting racketeering activity. This
Court is in agreenent with Qumest’s contention that the
plaintiffs have ignored the definition of unlawful activity as
it is used in 8 1952. Section 1952(b) defines unlawful activity
as any business enterprise involving ganbling, |iquor on which
the federal excise tax hasn’t been paid, narcotics, controlled
substances, or prostitution offenses; extortion, bribery or

arson; or any act indictable under Subchapter 1l of Chapter 53
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(Monetary Transactions) of Title 31 of the United States Code
or 18 U.S.C. 88 1956 (Il aundering of nonetary instruments) and
1957 (engaging in nonetary transactions in property derived
fromspecified unlawful activity), none of which have been pled
in the present case. Consequently, 8§ 1951 does not assist the
plaintiffs in nmeeting the first pleading requirenment for a R CO
claim but | eave has been given by this Court to plead a

viol ati on of 8§ 1962.

The plaintiffs also allege an "enterprise,” defining it as
any individual, partnership, corporation, association, or other
| egal entity, and any union or group of individuals associated
in fact although not a | egal entity, or a group of persons
associ ated together for a common purpose of engaging in a
course of conduct. This Court has held that a corporate

def endant associated with its own enpl oyees or agents carrying

on the regular affairs of the defendant cannot be considered a

RI CO enterprise. Abdullah v. Travelers Property Casualty Corp.,

83 F. Supp. 2d 289, 292 (D.Conn. 1999). Section 1962(c)

prohi bits any person enployed by or associated with any
enterprise to conduct such enterprise’ s affairs through a
pattern of racketeering activity. Case |aw holds that in order
to state a claimunder RICO, a plaintiff nust allege a person

and an enterprise that is distinct. In Abdullah, the
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plaintiffs alleged that the corporations at all relevant tinmes
had the power to, and did control the affairs, operations, and
conduct of its enployees and agents. In Abdullah, this Court
found that the distinctive requirenment under 8 1962(c) was not
satisfied, and the plaintiffs’ RICO claimfailed.

The threshold issue in count five is whether the
distributors utilized by Qvest were agents of Qwest. The
plaintiffs in the present case allege that the Qwvest defendants
associ ated together with their independent contractors or
third-party distributors in order to pronote Qwnest’s | ong
di stance service, to forcibly switch unwary consunmers to Quest
t hrough forged, fraudul ent docunentation, and therefore to slam
t hese consuners. Qwest benpans the fact that it, too, was a
victimof the wong-doing of these distributors with whom Qunest
contracted, and upon whom Qmest relied. This raises a question
of how much power or control Qwmest had over the conduct of its
di stri butors.

It is up to the trier of fact to determine if this
relationship, readily admtted to by Qwvest in the pleadings,
constitutes an "enterprise" as defined under RICO It is not
the function of this Court on a Rule 12(b)(6) nmotion to wei gh
the evidence which m ght be presented at trial, but nmerely to

det erm ne whether the conplaint itself is legally sufficient.
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The Court has stated above that it will allow the
plaintiffs to anmend the conplaint to correct the error of
om ssion of 18 U S.C. 8§ 1962 as they have requested. |If this
element is properly pled to state a claimunder the first
el ement of a RICO action, the Court will draw all reasonable
inference in favor of the pleader, and allow the action to go
forward. |If the plaintiffs fail to do so, Qwvest may file an
amended notion to dism ss, once again addressing the RICO
claim The second el ement necessary to state a claimfor a
RICO violation is injury in a conplainant’s business or
property, which this Court has determned is an issue that has
been pled sufficiently. Therefore, the Court will not dismss
count five for failure to state a cl ai munder RI CO

CONCLUSI ON

For the reasons set forth above, this Court GRANTS in part
and DENIES in part Qwmest’s notion to dismss [doc.# 7].
Qnest’s notion to dism ss counts one, two, four and six, based
on preenption of 47 U . S.C. § 258 is DENTED. Qmest’s motion to
di smi ss counts one and two for failure to state a cl ai m under
CUTPA is DENIED. Qmest’s notion to dismss count three for no
cause of action under 47 U . S.C. 258 is DENIED. Qwest’s npotion
to dism ss count four for failure to state a clai m of

fraudul ent m srepresentation is GRANTED wi t hout prejudice, with

23



| eave to the plaintiffs to replead with particul ars under
Fed. R Civ.P. Rule 9(b). Qwest’s notion to dism ss count five
for failure to allege the elements of a RI CO claimis DENI ED.
The plaintiffs are directed to amend their conpl aint by
inclusion of their claimunder 18 U S.C. § 1962.

SO ORDERED.

Dated at Bridgeport, Connecticut this 5th day of June,

2001.
/ s/

Warren W Eginton, Senior U S. District Judge
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